Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1848 (2015) 3078-3088

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Review

Biochimica et Biophysica Acta

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/bbamem



Understanding bacterial resistance to antimicrobial peptides: From the surface to deep inside^{*}



Simone Maria-Neto ^{a,b}, Keyla Caroline de Almeida ^c, Maria Ligia Rodrigues Macedo ^a, Octávio Luiz Franco ^{c,d,*}

^a Laboratório de Purificação de Proteínas e suas Funções Biológicas, Centro de Ciências Biológicas e da Saúde, Universidade Federal de Mato Grosso do Sul, Cidade Universitária S/N — Caixa Postal 549, 79070-900, Campo Grande, MS, Brazil

^b Programa de Pós-Graduação em Saúde e Desenvolvimento na Região Centro-Oeste, Universidade Federal de Mato Grosso do Sul, Campo Grande, MS, Brazil

^c Centro de Análises Proteômicas e Bioquímicas, Pós-Graduação em Ciências Genômicas e Biotecnologia, Universidade Católica de Brasília, 70790-160 Brasília, DF, Brazil

^d S-Inova, Pós-Graduação em Biotecnologia, Universidade Católica Dom Bosco, 79117-900 Campo Grande, MS, Brazil

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 11 November 2014 Received in revised form 13 February 2015 Accepted 15 February 2015 Available online 24 February 2015

Keywords: Antimicrobial peptides Bacterial resistance Mass spectrometry Cell walls Bacterial membranes

Contents

ABSTRACT

Resistant bacterial infections are a major health problem in many parts of the world. The major commercial antibiotic classes often fail to combat common bacteria. Although antimicrobial peptides are able to control bacterial infections by interfering with microbial metabolism and physiological processes in several ways, a large number of cases of resistance to antibiotic peptide classes have also been reported. To gain a better understanding of the resistance process various technologies have been applied. Here we discuss multiple strategies by which bacteria could develop enhanced antimicrobial peptide resistance, focusing on sub-cellular regions from the surface to deep inside, evaluating bacterial membranes, cell walls and cytoplasmic metabolism. Moreover, some high-throughput methods for antimicrobial resistance detection and discrimination are also examined. This article is part of a Special Issue entitled: Bacterial Resistance to Antimicrobial Peptides.

© 2015 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction	3078 3079
3. Membrane alterations that cause antimicrobial peptide resistance	3080
4. Modifications in cell wall of AMP-resistant bacterial strains	3081
4.1. Modifications in the polysaccharide layer	3082
4.2. Lipid A alterations	3083
4.3. Other cell wall modifications	3083
5. Subverting cellular metabolism	3085
6. Outlook and conclusive remarks	3085
Conflict of interest	3086
Acknowledgments	3086
References	3086

1. Introduction

In recent years, antibiotic resistance has increasingly become an uncontrollable health problem. Bacterial infections caused by resistant

E-mail address: ocfranco@gmail.com (O.L. Franco).

strains can be found in hospitals around the world, being extremely common in immune compromised patients [1]. Antibiotics are able to control bacterial infections, interfering with microbial metabolism and physiological processes, such as DNA replication and cell wall biosynthesis. Although multiple compounds are often used, cases of resistance to the majority of antibiotic classes used in hospitals have been reported [2].

The last report from the American Centers for Disease Control estimated that over two million illnesses and 23,000 deaths were caused by drug-resistant microbes in the USA in 2013 [3]. These numbers have encouraged health organizations to establish stricter policies for antibiotic use in order to curtail the emergence of resistance. These

[☆] This article is part of a Special Issue entitled: Bacterial Resistance to Antimicrobial Peptides.

^{*} Corresponding author at: Centro de Análises Proteômicas e Bioquímicas, Pós-Graduação em Ciências Genômicas e Biotecnologia, Universidade Católica de Brasília, 70790-160 Brasília, DF, Brazil, Tel.: +55 61 34487220.

policies are unquestionably helping to protect patients in many countries. If, on the one hand, a reliable policy for the use of antibiotics is necessary, the development of new drugs with potential activity against these pathogens is also essential.

Antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) are effective antibiotic agents found in plants, animals and microorganisms. These molecules have a broad spectrum of action, often being active against bacteria, fungi and protozoans. The amphipathic structure, common to AMPs, facilitates their interactions and insertion into the anionic cell wall and phospholipid membranes of microorganisms [4]. Frequently, AMP activity results from the disturbance of cell membrane integrity. However, AMPs can act in different cell targets including DNA [5], RNA [6], regulatory enzymes [7] and other proteins [8], appearing as a promising alternative to classic antibiotics [9]. Nevertheless, once AMPs have been put into current clinical use, the development of AMP-resistant strains will be inevitable [10–12]. Thus, the understanding of bacterial resistance against these compounds is extremely necessary for a possible rational planning of the next antibiotic generation.

To shed some light on the bacterial resistance process, several technologies including mass spectrometry and high-throughput techniques have been applied to analyses of bacterial physiology in response to antibiotic stress [13]. In this review article we discuss different strategies by which bacteria can develop AMP resistance from the surface to deep inside, evaluating the bacterial resistance process layer by layer. Moreover, some technologies for detecting antimicrobial resistance are also discussed.

2. Conventional and high-throughput methods to discriminate bacterial resistance

Currently the increase in the development of bacterial resistance to available antimicrobial agents is a major health public problem in the 21st century. Therefore, it is necessary to investigate and monitor antibiotic resistance in order to discriminate the pattern of resistant bacterial strains and to propose the appropriate treatment. These efforts may be helpful to reduce medical expenses and treat patients effectively [14].

In order to measure the resistance of microorganisms to antimicrobial agents, a wide variety of different and conventional laboratory methods is available. Among these can be cited the disk diffusion assay, the broth dilution test and automated commercial systems based on classical biochemical analysis [14]. Either broth (macrodilution and microdilution) or agar dilution methods may be used to measure quantitatively the in vitro activity of an antimicrobial agent against a given bacterial isolate, reporting the minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC).

In order to perform these tests, a series of tubes or plates is prepared with a broth or agar medium, as appropriate to each test, in which various concentrations of the antimicrobial agents are added. The tubes or plates are then inoculated with a standardized suspension of the test organism and after incubation, the tests are examined and the MIC is determined [15]. In susceptibility testing methods using an agar-based medium, such as disk diffusion and Etest, the sizes of the zones of inhibition depend on many variables (i.e. the antimicrobial agent, disk content and inocula), which may represent a disadvantage of these methods [14,16]. These biases have been reduced using firmly established standardized interpretative breakpoints and automated systems.

The commercial systems available are based primarily, or in part, on some of these standardized manual methods and may provide results essentially equivalent to these methods [15]. However, the use of automated or semi-automated systems, i.e., VITEK® 2, BD Phoenix® and MicroScan® WalkAway® [17] in microbiology labs, which also expose bacteria to graduated dilutions of antibiotic drugs, can give a result in fewer hours than the manual methods. They provide an advantage in detecting resistance, ordering fewer laboratory tests during the diagnostic process, completing the diagnostic workup using fewer sample collections, reducing laboratory costs and preventing resistant strains from spreading rapidly [18–20]. Automated systems performing identification of reduced antimicrobial susceptibility strains are increasingly being used [15,20]. But in some cases a diversity of screening nonstandardized methods plus confirmatory testing by more elaborate techniques have to be used to detect different levels of antimicrobial resistance between clinical isolates with a heterogeneous population of cells. This was observed in the GISA strain (GISA, glycopeptides intermediately susceptible to Staphylococcus aureus) and their heterogeneous variant hGISA (hGISA, heterogeneous glycopeptides intermediately susceptible to S. aureus), whose isolates probably represent the extremes of a common phenotype that confer a variable level of reduced susceptibility to glycopeptides [21,22]. In addition, Lo-Ten-Foe and co-workers [20] showed by comparison between testing different types of antimicrobial susceptibility that the automated system used was a reliable and easyto-use tool to determine Enterobacter cloacae and Acinetobacter baumannii colistin resistance, but that it cannot detect antimicrobial resistance in hetero-resistant isolates [20].

Although resistance has usually been analyzed at the phenotypic level by monitoring bacterial growth in the presence of various antibiotics, molecular high-throughput subtyping methods are available and their use seems to be necessary in order to discriminate distinct levels of bacterial resistance and to overcome the difficulties encountered in conventional tests [23]. Moreover, in general, genotypic tests may be advantageous over phenotypic assays, being much faster and capable of circumventing problems associated with a sometimes low resistance phenotypic expression [24]. Hence, the high-throughput methods based on DNA-assays (genomic and transcriptomic tools) and on proteomic-assays have been used to discriminate bacterial resistance and to assist in the management of infections.

Studies carried out in pathogenic bacteria have revealed that genes across diverse functional categories participate in determining the level of intrinsic and acquired susceptibility/resistance to antibacterial agents, known as the resistome, and the ongoing delineation of this resistome may provide fundamental insights both into antimicrobials' mode of action and into the bacterial response to inhibition and resistance [14,25]. Thus, the use of these tools can be advantageous due to their sensitivity and rapid turnaround times, which may provide clinical benefits that offset the cost [26]. The molecular methods to detect antibiotic resistance based on genomic analysis, such as gene sequencing [25,27,28], have been increasingly implemented in clinical laboratories to complement diagnosis and treatment.

Some reports have described the development of variations on techniques as demonstrated by Zimenkov and co-workers [29], in a study which showed an uncomplicated and easily implemented microarray technique. This was capable of detecting mutations in the *gyrA* and *gyrB* genes responsible for fluoroquinolone resistance and mutations in the *rrs* gene and the *eis* promoter locus that are associated with the aminoglycosides and capreomycin resistance in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*.

Another genomic approach, Scalar Analysis of Library Enrichments (SCALEs), was applied to map the effect of gene overexpression onto Bac8c (an 8 amino acid AMP) resistance in parallel for all genes and gene combination in the *Escherichia coli* genome, being capable of successfully identifying an elaborate network of genes for which over-expression leads to low-level resistance to this specific AMP [30]. In addition, a molecular test in association with conventional screening tests could provide valuable antibiotic resistance information to facilitate the management of patient therapy and the prevention of transmission [28].

Other DNA-based techniques, especially PCR, are often used to examine bacterial resistance genes [31]. Besides, real-time PCR (Q-PCR) assays have also been used to detect and quantify genes correlated with resistance, as demonstrated in *S. aureus* to achieve more accurate and rapid detection of macrolide–lincosamide–streptogramin B resistance genes (i.e., the *erm* genes). These genes are commonly observed in Gram-positive bacteria, such as the genera *Enterococcus*, *Bacillus*, *Streptococcus* and *Staphylococcus* correlated to bacteria 23S rRNA methylation, resulting in antibiotic resistance, and the Q-PCR test has been considered not only the most accurate and sensitive, but also the most rapid method used in these conditions [14,31]. In the case of methicillin susceptibility testing for *S. aureus*, conventional phenotypic methods use surrogate drugs and take about 48 h to become available from the time that positive cultures are detected, but in contrast, the detection by Q-PCR of the *mecA* gene, related to methicillin resistance, takes less than 2 h and yields a secure answer [26]. Therefore, together with the rapid turnaround time, the other main advantage of nucleic acid amplification is that it allows for the detection of low copy numbers of a specific organism's gene target in clinical samples, improving the therapy and patient outcome, but sometimes the polymicrobial infections may be missed [32].

The transcriptomic approach has been used to analyze a set of transcripts in a cell culture or a single cell that includes mRNAs encoding proteins and small non-coding RNAs (i.e. ribosome, tRNA, miRNA) in different pathogenic organisms, such as *M. tuberculosis* [33], *E. coli* [34], *Aggegatibacter actinomycetemcomitans* [35], *Campylobacter jejuni* [36] and *S. aureus* [37]. Kamensek and Zgur-Bertok evaluated the response of *E. coli* to colicin M, a bactericin that inhibits peptidoglycan synthesis, and demonstrated by transcriptomic analyses that subinhibitory concentrations of colicin M alter the gene expression involved in bacterial cell envelope, osmotic stress, cell motility and also in genes related to the production of exopolysaccharides and the CreBC system, already known to promote an increase in colicin M and E2 resistance [38].

DNA-based and proteomic analysis have been widely carried out in pathogenic bacteria through several experimental and analytic tools in order to build up a complete picture of the biochemical events that happen inside bacterial cells [39–41] and to characterize genes and proteins involved in the antibiotic resistance mechanisms [13]. These analyses when carried out together, may allow a better understanding of physiology and overall cellular metabolism, enabling the identification of connections between different metabolic and regulatory pathways that remain unclear [40,42].

In general, through proteomic analysis it has been possible to characterize a particular organism, tissue, or cell organelle structure by identifying the largest possible number of proteins, or even just comparing differentially expressed proteins, thus providing information complementary to that obtained through genomic techniques [43]. The use of this technology has been boosted with the emergence of ionization techniques such as electrospray ionization (ESI) and matrixassisted laser desorption ionization (MALDI) and with the application of liquid chromatography (LC), with high (HPLC) or ultra-efficiency (UPLC), which are used to allow measurement and identification of peptides with better sensitivity in complex biological samples [44,45]. The routine use of these techniques in clinical laboratories to identify resistance is still rare, probably due to the high cost of expensive capital equipment and the necessity of skilled labor. But advantages of these methods include the identification of a wide range of microorganisms resistant at one time and with minimal hands-on time, the high throughput capacity, the relative low per-test cost and the very rapid turnaround time [32,46].

MALDI-ToF MS has been applied to identify the different levels of bacterial resistance, for example in *S. aureus* strains resistant to methicillin [23,47], *Streptococcus pneumonia* strains resistant to fluoroquinolones [48] and *E. coli* resistant to multiple antibiotics [23,49]. Moreover, in MALDI-ToF MS AMPs resistance analysis, the technique was also seen to be efficient since it allowed the distinction between susceptible and magainin I-resistant *E. coli* strains [50]. Using this tool, the mass spectra acquired by MALDI-ToF MS for each isolate were used to construct a main spectrum profile (MSP), allowing a comparison with each other in a cluster tree. The distance between branches of these isolates showed that the subtle differences in molecular masses between the susceptible and resistant isolates permit the differentiation of the resistant strains [50]. The use of the MALDI-ToF MS tool in the clinical laboratory could rapidly and precisely discriminate the antibiotic-resistant pathogen strains in infectious diseases, including the differentiating bacterial strains with varying degrees of antibiotic resistance, having a high throughput capacity, reducing therapeutic failure and consequently the dissemination of resistance [23,51,52].

Moreover, by several proteomic approaches, various peptides and proteins have been found with differential expression directly or indirectly correlated to antimicrobial bacterial resistance, such as the porins OprD, OprF, OprG, OprL, OmpH and the MexA protein of an efflux pump in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* resistant to ampicillin, kanamycin and tetracycline [53,54]; the transmembrane channel TolC, F1-ATPA and DLD in *Vibrio parahaemolyticus*, related to efflux and phospholipids biosynthesis, increased, conferring resistance to AMPs [55]; there was also an increase in intracellular phosphoglycerate cynase and peptideoglycan hydrolase LytM in *S. aureus* resistant to methicillin and vancomycin [46,56] and in the 41 differential proteins related to metabolism and stress response in AMP magainin-I-resistant *E. coli* strains [10]. The identification of these proteins and their tabulation in a database may offer an additional support to discriminate the antimicrobial-resistant bacterial strains.

Therefore, the high-throughput methods available to identify the different bacterial resistance mechanisms outlined in this review may aid in the interpretation of relative gene expression profile, in the identification of potential genes and/or protein targets differentially expressed in drug-resistant strains and in the validation of essential gene expression for microorganism survival, including those activated or repressed in a hostile environment such as in the presence of antibiotics and AMPs.

3. Membrane alterations that cause antimicrobial peptide resistance

Most AMPs are capable of permeabilizing microbial membranes causing an osmotic cellular imbalance [57]. In general terms, the electrostatic forces start the interaction between the negatively charged cell surface and the positively charged peptide. This initial interaction leads to a second step in which the peptide with hydrophobic patches binds to the lipidic membrane, resulting in membrane disruption. Barrel-stave, toroidal, and carpet are the main models of this concept [58]. In barrel-stave, peptides seem to oligomerize and form transmembrane pores. Otherwise, toroidal pores could be formed by monomer peptides, which induce a local membrane curvature that also results in membrane disruption. Finally, a carpet mechanism occurs when the AMPs cover the membrane surface, causing a detergent-like effect that is able to disintegrate the membranes. Although these three classical mechanisms of action have been extensively discussed in the last two decades, some authors have proposed several other possibilities [8,57,58].

The mechanisms of bacterial resistance to AMPs are still not fully established, but the modifications in the physical–chemical interaction between the bacterial cell membrane and the AMP molecule seem to be the first step commonly involved in the resistance process [59,60]. In general, bacterial resistance can be achieved by bacteria changing the AMP target to make it less susceptible to AMP action or even by mechanisms related to the removal of AMPs from their site of action in the bacterial membrane (Fig. 1) [61,62]. Often, fluidity and permeability of the bacterial cell membranes decrease due to alterations in the architecture of the outer and inner membranes [62,63]. Reduced levels of specific membrane proteins and ions (such as Mg^{2+} and Ca^{2+}) [63–65], and changes in membrane lipid composition afford protection to the site of action of various AMPs. This was observed in bacterial resistance to polymyxins, defensins and cathelicidins, where these compounds main target is the cytoplasmic bacterial membrane [64,66].

Included in the main constituents of bacterial membranes are various types of phospholipids, such as phosphatidylethanolamine (PE), phosphatidyglycerol (PG) and cardiolipin (CL) [67,68]. The bacterial membrane structure fulfils several vital tasks, while the phospholipid membrane composition prevents cell damage in unfavorable growth



Fig. 1. Membrane alterations that influence cAMPs bacterial resistance. (A) The bacterium modulates its relative positive membrane charge (such as in the cardiolipin inclusion or in the increase of aminoacylated phospholipids content), changing the membrane lipid composition and reducing the negative membrane charge, avoiding the insertion of the positively charged AMPs, as a protective tactic to prevent cell damage and consequently to resist cAMP action; (B) The expression of flippases proteins seems to be important in the translocation or flipping of positively charged lipids from the inner to the outer leaflet of cytoplasmic membranes, resulting in changes in the membrane charge and composition, giving it a stable profile against antimicrobial action and reducing the affinity between cell membrane and the AMP and consequently the effectiveness of AMPs binding and action; (C) Under the control of the two-component signal regulatory systems (TCS) (i.e. PhoP–PhoQ), the bacteria perceive an environmental stimulus, activate signal transduction and respond to the presence of AMPs, controlling the between cell membrane (D) The efflux pumps transduce the electrochemical energy to displace the antimicrobial drugs or cAMPs out of the periplasm and their overexpression in bacteria closely correlated to their antibiotic resistance.

conditions, and this modulation seems to be crucial for bacterial survival [69]. The roles of the various phospholipids, their biosynthesis, turnover and regulation are very important in bacterial membrane structure and function, showing a close relation to antibiotic resistance. One example is about the expression of postulated flippase proteins that are required for translocation of lipids from the inner to the outer leaflet of cytoplasmic membranes, resulting in changes in the membrane composition and giving it a stable profile against antimicrobial action [69].

In a model membrane it was shown that inclusion of only 10% of CL was already able to effectively suppress membrane translocation and pore formation in liposomes by antibiotic action, resulting in resistance [68]. The methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* strains seem to utilize adaptations in phospholipid cell membrane, mediated by *mprF* (multiple peptide resistance factor), *cls* (cardiolipin synthase) and *pgsA* (phosphatidylglycerol synthase), together with other mechanisms, to modulate its relative positive surface charge as a protective tactic, probably against the insertion of positive charges of cationic AMPs (cAMPs) and also calibrate its cell membrane order (fluidity versus rigidity) to resist the action of AMPs [66,70,71]. In another membrane model, the presence of aminoacylated phospholipids (Lys-PE, Gln-PE), a common secondary modification of bacterial lipid bilayers of pathogenic bacteria, both Gram-negative and Gram-positive, is required for its stabilization, protecting it against AMP activity [72].

The reduction in negative charge resulting from alteration in the phospholipid bilayer composition in association with the function of the two-component signal regulatory systems (TCS), for example the PhoP–PhoQ described in *Salmonella enterica* and *P. aeruginosa* [64]; the ParR-ParS and PmrA–PmrB in *P. aeruginosa* [64,73]; the ApsR–ApsS in *Staphylococcus epidermidis* and *S. aureus* [62], and the TCS/ABC of *B. subtillis* (BceSR two-component system (TCS)/BceAB ABC transporter) [74] and of *S. aureus* (BraSR/BraDE transporter module) [75], which control the bacterial membrane modification according to the environmental stimuli response, could reduce the affinity between cell membrane and the AMPs and boost the effectiveness of AMP binding, increasing resistance [10,62,64,76]. In *S. aureus* most AMP-inducible AMP-resistance mechanisms, including *dlt, mprF* and *vraFG* genes, were found to be under *aps* (ApsR–ApsS) control, and the regulatory response and target mechanisms are mainly for cationic AMPs [62,77].

Under the control of the TCS systems, the bacteria perceive environmental stimulus, activate signal transduction and respond to the presence of AMPs, resulting in increased AMP resistance [75,78]. Along with this, the resistance is often also increased by the activity of transmembrane transporters, the efflux pumps that transduce electrochemical energy to displace the drugs out of the periplasm [79]. Active efflux plays a major role in this resistance, and multidrug efflux pumps decrease the accumulation of drugs within cells [80].

The tripartite-transport systems composed of inner and outer membrane proteins, connected by a periplasmic membrane fusion protein (i.e. AcrABTolC in *E. coli*), are mainly an important efflux system to pump cytotoxic compounds and antimicrobial drugs. Their overexpression in bacteria is really correlated with their antibiotic resistance [80,81]. Thus, the bacteria can adapt to a wide range of environmental conditions, including the presence of antimicrobial compounds, antibiotics and AMPs, which constitute environmental chemical stresses for bacterial cells, through appropriate developed mechanisms that confer protection against this external attack, such as the mechanism involving the cell membrane that seems to be pivotal in bacterial survival and resistance.

4. Modifications in cell wall of AMP-resistant bacterial strains

The bacterial cell envelope primarily consists of the cytoplasmic membrane and cell wall [82]. The cytoplasmic membrane makes the first physical barrier to protect the intracellular content. The cell wall gives strength and structure to the bacterial cell [83] and ensures the survival of most bacteria. Mycoplasma lacks a cell wall, but has a limited lifestyle, needing a completely predictable environment. In that case mycoplasma can survive without oxygen, but not in very high or very low salt concentrations due to the absence of cell walls [84]. Other bacteria turn into L-forms (without a cell wall) under conditions of extreme nutritional limitation or by mutation [85,86].

Structural differences in the bacterial cell wall led to the classification of bacteria into Gram-positive and -negative. The Gram-positive bacterial cell wall includes a thick peptidoglycan layer and another polysaccharide coat, mainly formed by teichoics and teichuronic acids. Furthermore, the Gram-negative bacterial cell wall proves to be more complex, including thin layers of peptidoglycans, lipoproteins, lipopolysaccharides and an outer membrane [82].

All antimicrobial peptides establish some kind of interaction with the cell wall to unleash their bactericidal activity, including ionic and hydrophobic interactions [87,88], since bacteria possess an overall negative surface charge. Therefore, bacterial defense toward this kind of action often relies on cell wall modifications, which usually alter the ionic cell wall potential, essentially on interaction spots, reducing the attachment of antibiotic peptides [89–91].

4.1. Modifications in the polysaccharide layer

Gram-positive bacteria usually resist antimicrobial peptides by partially neutralizing their cell wall [89]. Gram-positive cell walls have a large amount of anionic polysaccharides (up to 60%) attached to cytoplasmic membrane or the peptidoglycan layer. Lipoteichoic acid (LTA) and lipoglycans bind to the cytoplasmic membrane, while wall teichoic acid (WTA), teichuronic acid and other anionic polysaccharides connect to peptidoglycans [92,93]. LTA and WTA are composed of repeating monomeric alditol units (i.e. ribitol and glycerol) joined by anionic phosphodiester linkages, which confer an anionic character on these teichoic acids [93].

Finally, peptidoglycans comprise the main constituents of the Gram-positive cell wall: a disaccharide formed by two sugars (N-acetylglucosamine and N-acetylmuramic acid) linked to a short peptide chain (three to five amino acid residues). The disaccharide portion varies slightly in different bacteria, while the peptide chain, linked to the carboxyl group of N-acetylmuramic acid, shows wide variation in its composition [94,95]. The WTA is covalently linked to the peptidoglycan by a special coupling to O-6 or N-acetylmuramic acid [92]. Together with peptidoglycan, teichoic acids (WTA and LTA) determine the negative surface of most Gram-positive bacteria [93], which is essential for many cell functions, such as maintenance of homeostasis, cell shape and the activity of autolytic enzymes [96].

Gram-positive bacteria do not possess outer membrane protection [82]. The layer of peptidoglycans and teichoic acids receives all the extracellular pressure and makes the first contact with harmful molecules, likely host defense peptides [97]. Some Gram-positive bacteria evade the attack of antimicrobials. Extensive studies on this ability revealed that bacteria with the *dlt* operon promote D-alanylation of teichoic acids, reducing their anionic charges [98] (Fig. 2). Because many Grampositive bacteria have the *dlt* operon, Devine and Hancock [99] suggested the D-alanylation of teichoic acids as a natural defense of this Gram-type. Also, Peschel et al. [100] observed that D-alanine-esterified teichoic acids may represent a virulence factor due their occurrence in several pathogenic bacteria, such as streptococci, enterococci, clostridia, listeria, and bacilli.

Peschel and co-workers [98] reported that *S. aureus* and *Staphylococcus xylosus* with many copies of *dlt* operon were resistant to cationic peptides (defensin, protegrins, tachyplesins, magainin II, gallidermin and nisin) and a neutral peptide (gramicidin D). But mutant bacteria, lacking *dlt* operon, were sensitive up to 50-fold more to cationic peptides only. The mutant teichoic acid lacked D-alanine esters and remained highly charged by deprotonized phosphate groups in its glycerolphosphate repeating units, allowing the action of cationic peptides, but not of neutral gramicidin.

Peschel et al. [101] reported similar results in glycopeptide antibiotics, such as vancomycin and teicoplanin: *S. aureus* lacking D-alanine esters in teichoic acid proved three-fold more sensitive to glycopeptide antibiotics. Chan et al. [102] investigated the role of D-alanylation of lipoteichoic acid (LTA) in *Streptococcus gordonii*. The authors concluded that D-alanylation of LTA in this strain influences the host immune system by modulating cytokine production and promoting relative resistance to antimicrobial peptides. When they knocked out the *dltA* gene of *S. gordonii*, its susceptibility to polymyxin B, nisin, magainin II, and human β defensins 1 and 2 markedly increased [102]. Kristian et al. [96] obtained similar results in Group A *Streptococcus* mutant with allelic replacement of the *dltA* gene with the chloramphenicol acetyltransferase gene.

However, Saar-Dove et al. [103] investigated the interactions of the human pathogen Group B *Streptococcus* with cationic antimicrobial peptides with different properties. According to them, D-alanylation probably alters LTA conformation, which increases the cell wall density, flexibility and permeability, acting as a physical barrier to linear peptides.

The *dlt* operon contains four genes, *dltA*, *dltB*, *dltC*, and *dltD*, all of them being involved in the teichoic acids' D-alanylation [93,104]. The exact process of the D-alanine transferring to external polymers of the Grampositive cell wall remains uncertain [89], but it is known that the *dltA* encodes a D-alanine-D-alanyl carrier protein ligase (Dcl), which activates and transfers D-alanine to the D-alanine carrier protein (encoded by *dltC*); DltB participates in D-alanine incorporation into teichoic acids and transfer of activated D-alanine across the cytoplasmic membrane; and DltD assists the transfer of D-alanine from the membrane carrier to teichoic acids [93].

4.2. Lipid A alterations

Gram-negative bacteria possess an extra barrier, the outer membrane (OM), in comparison to Gram-positive strains. The OM maintains cell integrity in the face of environmental changes and controls the entrance of hostile molecules into the cell. The outer membrane is an asymmetrically organized bilayer membrane that has an inner layer composed of phospholipids and proteins; its externally exposed layer is composed of specific proteins and lipopolysaccharides (LPS), the latter being its major surface component [105]. Lipopolysaccharide molecular structures include three different subunits: an endotoxin (lipid A), a core oligosaccharide and an O-antigen polysaccharide [106]. The lipid A anchors the LPS unit to the outer membrane. This endotoxin corresponds to a β -1', β -linked glucosamine disaccharide, hexa-acylated and bisphosphorylated. The lipid A negative charge, and consequent anionic cell surface of Gram-negative bacteria, results from its core phosphorylation [91,106].

Some Gram-negative bacteria incorporate positive charges into lipid A, which reduces the negative net charge from the cell envelope and the electrostatic repulsion between neighboring LPS molecules, thus decreasing affinity for antimicrobial peptides [107,108] (Fig. 3). Lipid A modifications often result from changes in at least one the following substituents that occurs at 1- or 4'-phosphate groups: palmitate, phosphoethanolamine and 4-amino-4-deoxy-L-arabinose (4aminoarabinose) [106]. High levels of lipid A modifications with these substituents appear to be related to cationic antimicrobial peptide resistance [90] and bacterial virulence, as seen in polymyxin B [109–111]. The 4-aminoarabinose attachment to lipid A occurs by means of a phosphodiester bond in its anomeric carbon; phosphoethanolamine attachment often occurs as a pyrophosphate [90]; and palmitate residue transfer occurs from a phospholipid to the N-linked hydroxymyristate on the proximal unit of lipid A [109]. The two-component regulatory system, PhoP-PhoQ (PhoPQ), usually controls all three modifications of lipid A.

The PhoPO system induces the expression of the *pmrD* gene, which activates the PmrA-PmrB two-component system (PmrAB) by posttranslational modifications. These two regulatory systems control a group of genes required for antimicrobial resistance and pathogenesis [111]. The polymyxin resistance operon (pmr) is required for aminoarabinose LPS modification. In Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium, Bijlsma and Groisman [112] reported that the binding of PmrD protein to phosphorylated PmrA prevents dephosphorylation, activating PmrAregulated genes. Johnson et al. [111] reported that, in Salmonella *typhimurium*, cation chelating properties of extracellular DNA activate PhoPQ/PmrAB regulatory systems and, consequently, the antimicrobial peptide resistance (for an extensive study of Salmonella PmrAB regulation, see Gunn [113]). In Murray's work [114], a msbB Salmonella expressing PmrA(Con) protein confers polymyxin resistance by lipid A modification with phosphoethanolamine. Navarre et al. [115] reported an unusual linkage between PhoPQ and SlyA regulatory systems of S. typhimurium. The expression of pagC and mig-14, genes required for virulence and antimicrobial peptide resistance, known to be controlled by PhoP/PhoQ, appeared also regulated by SlyA.

However, *P. aeruginosa* promotes LPS modification independently of the PmrAB or PhoPQ system [116]. Since its PhoQ protein lacks the AMP-binding domain and depends on divalent cation-limitation, *P. aeruginosa* mediated regulation of the *arn*BCADTEF (*pmr*HFIJKLM) LPS modification operon to become resistant to antimicrobial peptides [117]. Kawasaki et al. [118] observed that a strain of *S. enterica* lacked the conventional lipid A modifications, and the deacylation of lipid A by PagL promoted bacterial resistance to polymyxin B. Although PagL expression is also under the control of the PhoP–PhoQ two-component regulatory system, the deacylation of lipid A is not usual in vivo due to PagL latency. PagL needs to be released from latency to compensate for the loss of resistance to polymyxin B. Additionally, Reinés et al. [119] reported the temperature-dependence of *Yersinia enterocolitica* resistance to antimicrobial peptides, governed by PhoPQ and PmrAB two-component systems. They demonstrated the down-regulation of lipid A modifications with aminoarabinose and palmitate at 37 °C when compared to 22 °C (room temperature).

Recently, Hankins et al. [120] characterized for the first time another lipid A modification, lipid A glycylation, and associated it with polymyxin resistance of El Tor *Vibrio cholerae*. The proteins encoded by the *almEFG* operon, responsible for glycine addition, remain from the Gram-positive system required for D-alanylation of teichoic acids. In their next work, the same research group reported the detailed mechanism of how aminoacyl esterification occurs in the glycine or diglycine for lipid A in *V. cholerae* [89]. Their model infers that AlmE starts the process, activating glycine by adenylation. Then AmlE transfers it to the 4'-phosphopantetheine group of the aminoacyl carrier protein AlmF, which becomes active. AlmG transfers the glycine substrate from the AlmF to the hydroxylauryl chain of lipid A.

However, a single bacterial species may resort to many resistance mechanisms at the same time. This is what happens with *Neisseria meningitides* [121] and *P. aeruginosa* [64]. The data obtained by Tzeng and co-workers [121] indicate that meningococci use multiple mechanisms to modulate levels of cationic antimicrobial peptide resistance, including the MtrC–MtrD–MtrE efflux pump, lipid A modification and the type IV pilin secretion system. Skiada et al. [64] reviewed the adaptive resistance to cationic compounds in *P. aeruginosa*. In the presence of aminoglycosides, the MexXY-OprM efflux pump mediated *P. aeruginosa* resistance; while the ParR–ParS two-component system regulated the resistance induced by cationic peptides through incorporation of 4-aminoarabinose in lipid A.

4.3. Other cell wall modifications

Cell wall thickening is a common feature of S. aureus resistance to several classic antibiotics such as erythromycin [122], vancomycin [123,124] and acriflavine [125], but just recently it was observed in antibiotic resistance to peptides [126]. Indeed, Cui et al. [127] correlated the reduced daptomycin susceptibility with vancomycin resistance in vancomycinintermediate S. aureus (VISA), relating both to cell wall thickening. However, Yang et al. [128] reported the evidence of multiple resistance mechanisms to daptomycin in S. aureus, including cell wall thickening. Kramer et al. [129] concluded that nisin tolerance of Micrococcus flavus and Listeria monocytogenes previously exposed to antibiotic pressure results from changes in cell wall thickness and cell wall charge. In a comparative proteomic analysis of magainin II resistant and susceptible E. coli strains, Maria-Neto and co-workers [10] suggested that cell wall thickness is one of the multiple defense mechanisms used by E. coli against antimicrobial peptides. The authors found the glutamine synthetase up-regulated, exerting a direct influence on the synthesis of the cell wall peptidoglycan layer.

Recently, Taneja et al. [130] reported the association of D-alanine incorporation and resistance to AMPs in *Bordetella pertussis*, a Gramnegative bacterium. The *B. pertussis dra* locus shows high homology with the *dlt* operons that decrease the negative charge of teichoic acids in Gram-positive bacteria (previously described). The *dra* operon inactivation resulted in enhanced sensitivity of *B. pertussis* to structurally different antimicrobial peptides, such as the human neutrophil peptides, HNP-1 and HNP-2 (β -sheet structure and disulfide bridges);



Fig. 3. AMP resistance from lipid A modification. (A) Schematic representation of the cell envelope of a Gram-negative bacterium before (left) and after reduction of cell surface negative net charge (right). Substituents on lipid A incorporate positive charges into LPS and promote electrostatic repulsion of antimicrobial peptides. (B) Major lipid A modifications and substituents: L-Ara4N (4-aminoarabinose), pEtN (phosphoethanolamine), glycylation (incorporation of glycine), acylation (incorporation of palmitate), deacylation (removal of long-chain fatty-acyl).

LL-37 (α -helical); polymyxin B (cyclic and amphipathic); and hSPLUNC1, similar to a BPI (bactericidal/permeability increasing) protein (helixes and a β sheet mixer structure [131]). The authors suggested *dra* involvement in the incorporation of D-alanine into an outer membrane component and subsequent surface modification. Further studies are needed to more comprehensively understand the role of *dra* in antimicrobial peptide resistance.

5. Subverting cellular metabolism

The exposure to antimicrobial peptides results in the cellular stress often noted in cell metabolism. Bacteria avoid the imminent threat of death by regulating the expression of several pathways, such as proteases, modification of surface structures, biofilm formation and suppression of vulnerable features [132].

Recent research reported by Rodrígues-Rojas and co-workers [12] showed that AMPs targeting the cell wall do not stimulate the bacterial mutation rates or promote the stress-pathway induction, as occurs with classic antibiotics. The authors treated *E. coli* for four continuous hours with the cAMPs cecropin A, melittin, magainin II, pexiganan, and LL-37, at 50% of minimal inhibitory concentration. None of these AMPs showed changes in mutation rate when compared to the control, while the antibiotics ampicillin, ciprofloxacin and kanamycin increased it three or four times. Similarly, AMP treatments did not result in differential expression of genes related to stress-induced mutagenesis. These data suggest that bacterial adaptation and resistance development to AMPs is not a result of by accelerated mutation rate.

On the other hand, proteolytic cleavage of antimicrobial peptides has been referred to as an inherent mechanism of bacterial resistance and virulence in several common pathogenic bacteria [133]. Sieprawska-Lupa et al. [134] and Jusko et al. [135] directly correlated the level of secreted endogenous extracellular proteases to the level of bacterial susceptibility to antimicrobial peptides. In Sieprawska-Lupa's work [134], S. aureus with larger amounts of the metalloprotease aureolysin degraded cathelicidin LL-37, contributing to the natural resistance of this pathogen. Aureolysin inactivates LL-37 bactericidal activity by cleaving C-terminal peptide bonds. Similarly, a metalloprotease of Tannerella forsythia, karilysin, also cleaved the antimicrobial peptide LL-37, significantly reducing its bactericidal activity [136]. Karilysin high-expressing T. forsythia strains were more resistant than low-expressing strains [135]. Similarly, the extracellular metalloprotease ZapA of Proteus mirabilis cleaves human β -defensin 1 (hBD1) into six short peptides and LL-37 into at least nine, reducing their antimicrobial activity [137].

Proteolytic cleavage of nisin represents a novel mechanism for antimicrobial resistance in strains of non-nisin-producing *Lactococcus lactis* [138] and of nisin-controlled gene expression systems (NICE) [139]. The protein encoded by the nisin resistance gene (*nsr*) inactivated nisin in vitro by removing six amino acids from the carboxyl terminal of nisin [138]. A recent study indicates that cytosolic peptidases also might cause resistance to antimicrobial peptides active in the bacterial cytosol [140]. The authors observed that the overexpression of the serine peptidase oligopeptidase B in *E. coli* reduces the susceptibility of bacterial cells to proline-rich antimicrobial peptides up to 30 residues in length, such as bovine peptides Bac5 and Bac7, and porcine peptide PR-39.

In *Streptococcus pyogenes*, the proteolytic inactivation of LL-37 by the cysteine protease SpeB was reported both in vitro [141] and in vivo, in patients with several streptococcal infections [142]. The SpeBmediated inactivation of LL-37 occurs through the α 2-macroglobulinprotease complexes at the streptococcal surface. *S. pyogenes* expresses surface-attached GRAB (G-related α 2-macroglobulin-binding) protein, which binds to the protease inhibitor α 2-macroglobulin. Next, the GRAB- α 2-macroglobulin complex traps Speb, which is retained at the bacterial surface. Speb remains proteolytically active and readily cleaves small peptides that have penetrated the complex, such as LL-37 [143], leading to the bacterial resistance mechanism.

Schmidtchen et al. [144] reported that P. aeruginosa, Enterococcus faecalis and S. pyogenes use a common mechanism to modulate and evade α -defensin action. Extracellular proteinases secreted by these strains degrade dermatan sulfate-containing proteoglycans, subsequently releasing free dermatan sulfate into the environment. Then, the released compound binds to neutrophil-derived α -defensin and completely neutralizes its bactericidal activity. Another extracellular trap contributes to Group A Streptococcus resistance to cathelicidin [145]. M1 protein on the Streptococcus surface might mediate resistance to LL-37 through its entrapment and inactivation into the fimbrial-like extension of M1 protein before the cathelicidin reaches its cell membrane target of action. Similarly, a pilus protein of Group B Streptococcus seems to capture cathelicidin antimicrobial peptides [146]. In this work, Maisey and co-workers studied the heterologous expression of PilB, a protein subunit forming the Gram-positive pilus backbone, in L. lactis. They suggested the association of cathelicidin with the cell wallanchored PilB, which may capture or trap the peptide.

The development process of biofilm formation is an important mechanism of resistance to antimicrobial compounds and environmental stresses [147]. In biofilm formation, the autonomous bacterial cells are encased in an extracellular matrix, consolidating a multicellular surface-association. The biofilm matrix produces an extracellular polymeric substance (EPS) where the cells are embedded. EPS has a characteristic structure and is mainly composed of amyloid and adhesive fimbriae, non-fimbrial large surface proteins, exopolysaccharides, and extracellular DNA [148]. Biofilm-formation bacteria resist the majority of conventional antibiotics [149], but do not resist several antimicrobial peptides that act as antibiofilm agents [150,151]. However, Mulcahy and co-workers [152] reported that extracellular DNA of P. aeruginosa biofilm induces resistance to polymyxin B and colistin. Extracellular DNA chelates cations from the environment, and P. aeruginosa understands this as a signal to induce LPS modification genes and resistance to antimicrobials. Kai-Larsen et al. [151] reported another biofilm structure involved in antimicrobial peptide resistance, a curli fimbriae. They suggested the LL-37 resistance of a curliated E. coli resulted from a curli-LL-37 interaction. At the same time that LL-37 inhibits curli formation by preventing the polymerization of the major curli subunit, CsgA, curli traps LL-37, blocking its action on bacterial biofilm.

6. Outlook and conclusive remarks

As previously described, bacterial resistance is a complex problem that needs to be solved or at least reduced. In order to successfully control resistant bacterial infections, we must adopt multiple strategies that include the discovery of novel antibiotic compounds or the extension of the lifespan of our current repertoire of antibiotics. There are several strategies to do this that include a restriction on the quantity of antibiotics in agriculture; a reduction in the number of antibiotics that are prescribed for virus diseases such as influenza; better education in the community so that patients are aware that they must finish their whole antibiotic prescription; and the use of antibiotic adjuvants [153].

Nevertheless, for efficient drug development, it is essential to gain a complete understanding of bacterial resistance at the different developmental stages in an infection. One pitfall is that each antibiotic has a distinct expression profile, which clearly makes it difficult to identify proteins, carbohydrates and lipids involved in the resistance process. At this point it is tremendously difficult to select a single technique that could solve the bacterial resistance enigma. In fact, all techniques present their positive points and their drawbacks. For example, proteomics has been extremely important for protein panorama visualization, but does not show the coverage of transcriptomics and genomics techniques [154].

Indeed, the two latter techniques do not elucidate what is really occurring in the bacterial cell, since nothing guarantees that the transcripts produced will effectively be transformed into real proteins. Given this, the union of several techniques and a multi-task team are necessary to make a real contribution in this field. No less important or urgent is the development of new methods to detect resistance in real time. Despite the speed of MALDI ToF and other techniques described here, we will need portable and inexpensive equipment that can be used in any part of the world [155]. Such technology, which also needs to be easy to handle, will open possibilities for rapid detection of resistant pathogens and pave the way to more accurate antibiotic prescriptions.

In summary, despite clear efforts by the scientific community, we are just starting to comprehend bacterial resistance, and many great strides are made daily, with more needed. The battle against resistant microbes is just beginning, and further studies will be vital to control lethal pathogens and decrease the harm produced.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare no conflict of interests and all agree to send the work *Understanding bacterial resistance to antimicrobial peptides: from the surface to deep inside* to BBA — Biomembranes. Furthermore, this manuscript has not been published or accepted for publication and it is not under consideration at another journal.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by CNPq, CAPES, FAPDF, FINEP and FUNDECT.

References

- H. Grundmann, K.P. Klugman, T. Walsh, P. Ramon-Pardo, B. Sigauque, W. Khan, R. Laxminarayan, A. Heddini, J. Stelling, A framework for global surveillance of antibiotic resistance, Drug Resist. Updat. 14 (2011) 79–87.
- [2] M. Morar, G.D. Wright, The genomic enzymology of antibiotic resistance, Annu. Rev. Genet. 44 (2010) 25–51.
- [3] CDC, Antibiotic resistance threats in the United States, United States Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2013 (http://www.cdc.gov/drugresistance/threat-report-2013/).
- [4] K.L. Brown, R.E. Hancock, Cationic host defense (antimicrobial) peptides, Curr. Opin. Immunol. 18 (2006) 24–30.
- [5] A. Ghosh, R.K. Kar, J. Jana, A. Saha, B. Jana, J. Krishnamoorthy, D. Kumar, S. Ghosh, S. Chatterjee, A. Bhunia, Indolicidin targets duplex DNA: structural and mechanistic insight through a combination of spectroscopy and microscopy, ChemMedChem 9 (2014) 2052–2058.
- [6] G. Hao, Y.H. Shi, Y.L. Tang, G.W. Le, The intracellular mechanism of action on *Escherichia coli* of BF2-A/C, two analogues of the antimicrobial peptide Buforin 2, J. Microbiol. 51 (2013) 200–206.
- [7] A. Dangel, N. Ackermann, O. Abdel-Hadi, R. Maier, K. Onder, P. Francois, C.W. Muller, J. Pane-Farre, S. Engelmann, J. Schrenzel, J. Heesemann, C. Lindermayr, A de novo-designed antimicrobial peptide with activity against multiresistant *Staphylococcus aureus* acting on RsbW kinase, FASEB J. 27 (2013) 4476–4488.
- [8] L.T. Nguyen, E.F. Haney, H.J. Vogel, The expanding scope of antimicrobial peptide structures and their modes of action, Trends Biotechnol. 29 (2011) 464–472.
- [9] E. Forde, M. Devocelle, Pro-moieties of antimicrobial peptide prodrugs, Molecules 20 (2015) 1210–1227.
- [10] S. Maria-Neto, E.S. Cândido, D.R. Rodrigues, D.A. de Sousa, E.M. da Silva, L.M. de Moraes, A.J. Otero-Gonzalez, B.S. Magalhães, S.C. Dias, O.L. Franco, Deciphering the magainin resistance process of *Escherichia coli* strains in light of the cytosolic proteome, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 56 (2012) 1714–1724.
- [11] N.S. Parachin, O.L. Franco, New edge of antibiotic development: antimicrobial peptides and corresponding resistance, Front. Microbiol. 5 (2014) 147.
- [12] A. Rodriguez-Rojas, O. Makarova, J. Rolff, Antimicrobials, stress and mutagenesis, PLoS Pathog. 10 (2014) e1004445.
- [13] T.B. Lima, M.F. Pinto, S.M. Ribeiro, L.A. de Lima, J.C. Viana, N. Gomes Júnior, E.E.S. Cândido, S.C. Dias, O.L. Franco, Bacterial resistance mechanism: what proteomics can elucidate, FASEB J. 27 (2013) 1291–1303.
- [14] J.H. Jung, E.J. Yoon, E.C. Choi, S.S. Choi, Development of TaqMan probe-based real-time PCR method for erm(A), erm(B), and erm(C), rapid detection of macrolide–lincosamide–streptogramin B resistance genes, from clinical isolates, J. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 19 (2009) 1464–1469.
- [15] S.J. Cavalieri, R.J. Harbeck, Y.S. McCarter, J.H. Ortez, I.D. Rankin, R.L. Sautter, S.E. Sharp, C.A. Spiegel, Manual of antimicrobial susceptibility testing, vol. 9, 2005, p. 236.
- [16] CLSI, Performance standards for antimicrobial susceptibility testing; 24th informational supplement, in: P.A. Wayne (Ed.)CLSI document M100-S24, 2014, p. 144.
- [17] T. Winstanley, P. Courvalin, Expert systems in clinical microbiology, Clin. Microbiol. Rev. 24 (2011) 515–556.
- [18] E. Stürenburg, I. Sobottka, H.H. Feucht, D. Mack, R. Laufs, Comparison of BDPhoenix and VITEK2 automated antimicrobial susceptibility test systems for extended-

spectrum beta-lactamase detection in *Escherichia coli* and Klebsiella species clinical isolates, Diagn. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 45 (2003) 29–34.

- [19] I. Otto-Karg, S. Jandl, T. Müller, B. Stirzel, M. Frosch, H. Hebestreit, M. Abele-Horn, Validation of Vitek 2 nonfermenting Gram-negative cards and Vitek 2 version 4.02 software for identification and antimicrobial susceptibility testing of nonfermenting Gram-negative rods from patients with cystic fibrosis, J. Clin. Microbiol. 47 (2009) 3283–3288.
- [20] J.R. Lo-Tén-Foe, A.M. de Smet, B.M. Diederen, J.A. Kluytmans, P.H. van Keulen, Comparative evaluation of the VITEK 2, disk diffusion, etest, broth microdilution, and agar dilution susceptibility testing methods for colistin in clinical isolates, including heteroresistant *Enterobacter cloacae* and *Acinetobacter baumannii* strains, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 51 (2007) 3726–3730.
- [21] A. Voss, J.W. Mouton, E.P. van Elzakker, R.G. Hendrix, W. Goessens, J.A. Kluytmans, P.F. Krabbe, H.J. de Neeling, J.H. Sloos, N. Oztoprak, R.A. Howe, T.R. Walsh, A multicenter blinded study on the efficiency of phenotypic screening methods to detect glycopeptide intermediately susceptible *Staphylococcus aureus* (GISA) and heterogeneous GISA (h-GISA), Ann. Clin. Microbiol. Antimicrob. 6 (2007) 9.
- [22] L. Bernard, P. Vaudaux, P. Rohner, E. Huggler, M. Armanet, D. Pittet, D.P. Lew, J. Schrenzel, Comparative analysis and validation of different assays for glycopeptide susceptibility among methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* strains, J. Microbiol. Methods 57 (2004) 231–239.
- [23] M. Muroi, K. Shima, M. Igarashi, Y. Nakagawa, K. Tanamoto, Application of matrixassisted laser desorption ionization-time of flight mass spectrometry for discrimination of laboratory-derived antibiotic-resistant bacteria, Biol. Pharm. Bull. 35 (2012) 1841–1845.
- [24] G. Werner, A. Serr, S. Schutt, C. Schneider, I. Klare, W. Witte, C. Wendt, Comparison of direct cultivation on a selective solid medium, polymerase chain reaction from an enrichment broth, and the BD GeneOhm VanR Assay for identification of vancomycin-resistant enterococci in screening specimens, Diagn. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 70 (2011) 512–521.
- [25] K.L. Blake, A.J. O'Neill, Transposon library screening for identification of genetic loci participating in intrinsic susceptibility and acquired resistance to antistaphylococcal agents, J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 68 (2013) 12–16.
- [26] D.T. Nguyen, E. Yeh, S. Perry, R.F. Luo, B.A. Pinsky, B.P. Lee, D. Sisodiya, E.J. Baron, N. Banaei, Real-time PCR testing for mecA reduces vancomycin usage and length of hospitalization for patients infected with methicillin-sensitive staphylococci, J. Clin. Microbiol. 48 (2010) 785–790.
- [27] N. Motamedi, L. Danelishvili, L.E. Bermudez, Identification of *Mycobacterium avium* genes associated with resistance to host antimicrobial peptides, J. Med. Microbiol. 63 (2014) 923–930.
- [28] C. Surcouf, S. Heng, C. Pierre-Audigier, V. Cadet-Daniel, A. Namouchi, A. Murray, B. Gicquel, B. Guillard, Molecular detection of fluoroquinolone-resistance in multi-drug resistant tuberculosis in Cambodia suggests low association with XDR phenotypes, BMC Infect. Dis. 11 (2011) 255.
- [29] D.V. Zimenkov, O.V. Antonova, A.V. Kuz'min, Y.D. Isaeva, L.Y. Krylova, S.A. Popov, A.S. Zasedatelev, V.M. Mikhailovich, D.A. Gryadunov, Detection of second-line drug resistance in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* using oligonucleotide microarrays, BMC Infect. Dis. 13 (2013) 240.
- [30] E.C. Spindler, N.R. Boyle, R.E. Hancock, R.T. Gill, Genome-wide identification of genes conferring energy related resistance to a synthetic antimicrobial peptide (Bac8c), PLoS ONE 8 (2013) e55052.
- [31] J. Chen, Z. Yu, F.C. Michel, T. Wittum, M. Morrison, Development and application of real-time PCR assays for quantification of erm genes conferring resistance to macrolides–lincosamides–streptogramin B in livestock manure and manure management systems, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 73 (2007) 4407–4416.
- [32] F. Valencia-Shelton, M. Loeffelholz, Nonculture techniques for the detection of bacteremia and fungemia, Future Microbiol 9 (2014) 543–559.
- [33] A. Cossu, L.A. Sechi, E. Bandino, S. Zanetti, V. Rosu, Expression profiling of Mycobacterium tuberculosis H37Rv and Mycobacterium smegmatis in acid-nitrosative multi-stress displays defined regulatory networks, Microb. Pathog. 65 (2013) 89–96.
 [34] J. Agarwal, S. Srivastava, M. Singh, Pathogenomics of uropathogenic Escherichia coli,
- Indian J. Med. Microbiol. 30 (2012) 141–149.
- [35] P. Jorth, U. Trivedi, K. Rumbaugh, M. Whiteley, Probing bacterial metabolism during infection using high-resolution transcriptomics, J. Bacteriol. 195 (2013) 4991–4998.
- [36] M.E. Taveirne, C.M. Theriot, J. Livny, V.J. DiRita, The complete *Campylobacter jejuni* transcriptome during colonization of a natural host determined by RNAseq, PLoS ONE 8 (2013) e73586.
- [37] J. Osmundson, S. Dewell, S.A. Darst, RNA-Seq reveals differential gene expression in *Staphylococcus aureus* with single-nucleotide resolution, PLoS ONE 8 (2013) e76572.
- [38] S. Kamenšek, D. Žgur-Bertok, Global transcriptional responses to the bacteriocin colicin M in *Escherichia coli*, BMC Microbiol. 13 (2013) 42.
- [39] Y. Taniguchi, P.J. Choi, G.W. Li, H. Chen, M. Babu, J. Hearn, A. Emili, X.S. Xie, Quantifying *E. coli* proteome and transcriptome with single-molecule sensitivity in single cells, Science 329 (2010) 533–538.
- [40] S. Berthoumieux, M. Brilli, D. Kahn, H. de Jong, E. Cinquemani, On the identifiability of metabolic network models, J. Math. Biol. 67 (2013) 1795–1832.
- [41] B.W. Ying, S. Seno, F. Kaneko, H. Matsuda, T. Yomo, Multilevel comparative analysis of the contributions of genome reduction and heat shock to the *Escherichia coli* transcriptome, BMC Genomics 14 (2013) 25.
- [42] S.H. Yoon, M.J. Han, S.Y. Lee, K.J. Jeong, J.S. Yoo, Combined transcriptome and proteome analysis of *Escherichia coli* during high cell density culture, Biotechnol. Bioeng. 81 (2003) 753–767.
- [43] S.J. Fey, P.M. Larsen, 2D or not 2D. Two-dimensional gel electrophoresis, Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 5 (2001) 26–33.

- [44] P. Mallick, B. Kuster, Proteomics: a pragmatic perspective, Nat. Biotechnol. 28 (2010) 695–709.
- [45] A. Rogowska-Wrzesinska, M.C. Le Bihan, M. Thaysen-Andersen, P. Roepstorff, 2D gels still have a niche in proteomics, J. Proteome 88 (2013) 4–13.
- [46] H. Chen, Y. Liu, C. Zhao, D. Xiao, J. Zhang, F. Zhang, M. Chen, H. Wang, Comparative proteomics-based identification of genes associated with glycopeptide resistance in clinically derived heterogeneous vancomycin-intermediate *Staphylococcus aureus* strains, PLoS ONE 8 (2013) e66880.
- [47] E. Madhava Charyulu, A. Gnanamani, A.B. Mandal, Identification and discrimination of methicillin resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* strains isolated from burn wound sites using PCR and authentication with MALDI-TOF-MS, Indian J. Microbiol. 52 (2012) 337–345.
- [48] M.V. Malakhova, V.A. Vereshchagin, E.N. Il'ina, V.M. Govorun, O.I.U. Filimonova, S.A. Grudinina, S.V. Sidorenko, MALDI-ToF mass-spectrometry in analysis of genetically determined resistance of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* to fluoroquinolones, Antibiot. Khimioter. 52 (2007) 10–17.
- [49] J.E. Camara, F.A. Hays, Discrimination between wild-type and ampicillin-resistant *Escherichia coli* by matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry, Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 389 (2007) 1633–1638.
- [50] K.C. de Almeida, T.B. Lima, D.O. Motta, O.N. Silva, B.S. Magalhaes, S.C. Dias, O.L. Franco, Investigating specific bacterial resistance to AMPs by using a magainin I-resistant *Escherichia coli* model, J. Antibiot. (Tokyo) 67 (2014) 681–687.
- [51] K.E. Tan, B.C. Ellis, R. Lee, P.D. Stamper, S.X. Zhang, K.C. Carroll, Prospective evaluation of a matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization-time of flight mass spectrometry system in a hospital clinical microbiology laboratory for identification of bacteria and yeasts: a bench-by-bench study for assessing the impact on time to identification and cost-effectiveness, J. Clin. Microbiol. 50 (2012) 3301–3308.
- [52] V.D. Rosenthal, Health-care-associated infections in developing countries, Lancet 377 (2011) 186–188.
- [53] X. Peng, C. Xu, H. Ren, X. Lin, L. Wu, S. Wang, Proteomic analysis of the sarcosine-insoluble outer membrane fraction of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* responding to ampicillin, kanamycin, and tetracycline resistance, J. Proteome Res. 4 (2005) 2257–2265.
- [54] H. Nikaido, Molecular basis of bacterial outer membrane permeability revisited, Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 67 (2003) 593–656.
- [55] C.J. Shen, T.Y. Kuo, C.C. Lin, L.P. Chow, W.J. Chen, Proteomic identification of membrane proteins regulating antimicrobial peptide resistance in *Vibrio parahaemolyticus*, J. Appl. Microbiol. 108 (2010) 1398–1407.
- [56] R. Pieper, C.L. Gatlin-Bunai, E.F. Mongodin, P.P. Parmar, S.T. Huang, D.J. Clark, R.D. Fleischmann, S.R. Gill, S.N. Peterson, Comparative proteomic analysis of *Staphylococcus aureus* strains with differences in resistance to the cell wall-targeting antibiotic vancomycin, Proteomics 6 (2006) 4246–4258.
- [57] W.C. Wimley, Describing the mechanism of antimicrobial peptide action with the interfacial activity model, ACS Chem. Biol. 5 (2010) 905–917.
- [58] F. Guilhelmelli, N. Vilela, P. Albuquerque, S. Derengowski Lda, I. Silva-Pereira, C.M. Kyaw, Antibiotic development challenges: the various mechanisms of action of antimicrobial peptides and of bacterial resistance, Front. Microbiol. 4 (2013) 353.
- [59] M. Zucca, S. Scutera, D. Savoia, New antimicrobial frontiers, Mini Rev. Med. Chem. 11 (2011) 888–900.
- [60] Y. Huang, J. Huang, Y. Chen, Alpha-helical cationic antimicrobial peptides: relationships of structure and function, Protein Cell 1 (2010) 143–152.
- [61] M. Otto, Bacterial sensing of antimicrobial peptides, Contrib. Microbiol. 16 (2009) 136–149.
- [62] M. Li, D.J. Cha, Y. Lai, A.E. Villaruz, D.E. Sturdevant, M. Otto, The antimicrobial peptide-sensing system aps of *Staphylococcus aureus*, Mol. Microbiol. 66 (2007) 1136–1147.
- [63] O. Rolin, S.J. Muse, C. Safi, S. Elahi, V. Gerdts, L.E. Hittle, R.K. Ernst, E.T. Harvill, A. Preston, Enzymatic modification of lipid A by ArnT protects Bordetella bronchiseptica against cationic peptides and is required for transmission, Infect. Immun. 82 (2014) 491–499.
- [64] A. Skiada, A. Markogiannakis, D. Plachouras, G.L. Daikos, Adaptive resistance to cationic compounds in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents 37 (2011) 187–193.
- [65] A. Beceiro, E. Llobet, J. Aranda, J.A. Bengoechea, M. Doumith, M. Hornsey, H. Dhanji, H. Chart, G. Bou, D.M. Livermore, N. Woodford, Phosphoethanolamine modification of lipid A in colistin-resistant variants of *Acinetobacter baumannii* mediated by the pmrAB two-component regulatory system, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 55 (2011) 3370–3379.
- [66] N.N. Mishra, A.S. Bayer, Correlation of cell membrane lipid profiles with daptomycin resistance in methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 57 (2013) 1082–1085.
- [67] W. Dowhan, A retrospective: use of *Escherichia coli* as a vehicle to study phospholipid synthesis and function, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1831 (2013) 471–494.
- [68] T. Zhang, J.K. Muraih, N. Tishbi, J. Herskowitz, R.L. Victor, J. Silverman, S. Uwumarenogie, S.D. Taylor, M. Palmer, E. Mintzer, Cardiolipin prevents membrane translocation and permeabilization by daptomycin, J. Biol. Chem. 289 (2014) 11584–11591.
- [69] C.M. Ernst, A. Peschel, Broad-spectrum antimicrobial peptide resistance by MprFmediated aminoacylation and flipping of phospholipids, Mol. Microbiol. 80 (2011) 290–299.
- [70] N.N. Mishra, A.S. Bayer, T.T. Tran, Y. Shamoo, E. Mileykovskaya, W. Dowhan, Z. Guan, C.A. Arias, Daptomycin resistance in enterococci is associated with distinct alterations of cell membrane phospholipid content, PLoS ONE 7 (2012) e43958.
- [71] A.S. Bayer, N.N. Mishra, G. Sakoulas, P. Nonejuie, C.C. Nast, J. Pogliano, K.T. Chen, S.N. Ellison, M.R. Yeaman, S.J. Yang, Heterogeneity of mprF sequences in methicillinresistant *Staphylococcus aureus* clinical isolates: role in cross-resistance between

daptomycin and host defense antimicrobial peptides, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 58 (2014) 7462–7467.

- [72] E. Cox, A. Michalak, S. Pagentine, P. Seaton, A. Pokorny, Lysylated phospholipids stabilize models of bacterial lipid bilayers and protect against antimicrobial peptides, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1838 (2014) 2198–2204.
- [73] L. Fernández, W.J. Gooderham, M. Bains, J.B. McPhee, I. Wiegand, R.E. Hancock, Adaptive resistance to the "last hope" antibiotics polymyxin B and colistin in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* is mediated by the novel two-component regulatory system ParR-ParS, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 54 (2010) 3372–3382.
- [74] R. Ohki, K. Giyanto, W. Tateno, S. Masuyama, K. Moriya, N. Kobayashi, Ogasawara, The BceRS two-component regulatory system induces expression of the bacitracin transporter, BceAB, in *Bacillus subtilis*, Mol. Microbiol. 49 (2003) 1135–1144.
- [75] A. Hiron, M. Falord, J. Valle, M. Débarbouillé, T. Msadek, Bacitracin and nisin resistance in *Staphylococcus aureus*: a novel pathway involving the BraS/BraR twocomponent system (SA2417/SA2418) and both the BraD/BraE and VraD/VraE ABC transporters, Mol. Microbiol. 81 (2011) 602–622.
- [76] M. Falord, G. Karimova, A. Hiron, T. Msadek, GraXSR proteins interact with the VraFG ABC transporter to form a five-component system required for cationic antimicrobial peptide sensing and resistance in *Staphylococcus aureus*, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 56 (2012) 1047–1058.
- [77] C.J. Slavetinsky, A. Peschel, C.M. Ernst, Alanyl-phosphatidylglycerol and lysylphosphatidylglycerol are translocated by the same MprF flippases and have similar capacities to protect against the antibiotic daptomycin in *Staphylococcus aureus*, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 56 (2012) 3492–3497.
- [78] S. Dintner, R. Heermann, C. Fang, K. Jung, S. Gebhard, A sensory complex consisting of an ATP-binding cassette transporter and a two-component regulatory system controls bacitracin resistance in *Bacillus subtilis*, J. Biol. Chem. 289 (2014) 27899–27910.
- [79] J. Fernandez-Recio, F. Walas, L. Federici, J. Venkatesh Pratap, V.N. Bavro, R.N. Miguel, K. Mizuguchi, B. Luisi, A model of a transmembrane drug-efflux pump from Gram-negative bacteria, FEBS Lett. 578 (2004) 5–9.
- [80] F.V. Biot, M.M. Lopez, T. Poyot, F. Neulat-Ripoll, S. Lignon, A. Caclard, F.M. Thibault, A. Peinnequin, J.M. Pagès, E. Valade, Interplay between three RND efflux pumps in doxycycline-selected strains of *Burkholderia thailandensis*, PLoS ONE 8 (2013) e84068.
- [81] T.K. Janganan, V.N. Bavro, L. Zhang, M.I. Borges-Walmsley, A.R. Walmsley, Tripartite efflux pumps: energy is required for dissociation, but not assembly or opening of the outer membrane channel of the pump, Mol. Microbiol. 88 (2013) 590–602.
- [82] S.C. Parija, Textbook of Microbiology & Immunology, Second ed. Elsevier Health Sciences APAC, Manesar, India, 2014.
- [83] W. Weidel, H. Pelzer, Bagshaped macromolecules a new outlook on bacterial cell walls, Adv. Enzymol. Relat. Areas Mol. Biol. 26 (1964) 193–232.
- [84] T. Paustian, Through the Microscope: Adventures in Microbiology, http://www. microbiologytext.com2012 (Access date: 29/09/2014).
- [85] L. Dienes, H.J. Weinberger, The L forms of bacteria, Bacteriol. Rev. 15 (1951) 245–288.
- [86] J. Errington, L-Form bacteria, cell walls and the origins of life, Open Biol. 3 (2013) 120143.
- [87] T. Ebenhan, O. Gheysens, H.G. Kruger, J.R. Zeevaart, M.M. Sathekge, Antimicrobial peptides: their role as infection-selective tracers for molecular imaging, Biomed. Res. Int. 2014 (2014) 867381.
- [88] J.J. Lopez Cascales, A. Garro, R.D. Porasso, R.D. Enriz, The dynamic action mechanism of small cationic antimicrobial peptides, Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 16 (2014) 21694–21705.
- [89] J.C. Henderson, C.D. Fage, J.R. Cannon, J.S. Brodbelt, A.T. Keatinge-Clay, M.S. Trent, Antimicrobial peptide resistance of *Vibrio cholerae* results from an LPS modification pathway related to nonribosomal peptide synthetases, ACS Chem. Biol. 9 (2014) 2382–2392.
- [90] H. Brade, Endotoxin in Health and Disease, First ed. CRC Press, United States of America, 1999.
- [91] L.E.T. Metzger, J.K. Lee, J.S. Finer-Moore, C.R. Raetz, R.M. Stroud, Lpxl structures reveal how a lipid A precursor is synthesized, Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 19 (2012) 1132–1138.
- [92] G. Seltmann, O. Holst, The Bacterial Cell Wall, Springer, Berlin Heidelberg, 2002.
- [93] F.C. Neuhaus, J. Baddiley, A continuum of anionic charge: structures and functions of p-alanyl-teichoic acids in Gram-positive bacteria, Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 67 (2003) 686–723.
- [94] K.H. Schleifer, O. Kandler, Peptidoglycan types of bacterial cell walls and their taxonomic implications, Bacteriol. Rev. 36 (1972) 407–477.
- [95] D.J. Scheffers, M.G. Pinho, Bacterial cell wall synthesis: new insights from localization studies, Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 69 (2005) 585–607.
- [96] S.A. Kristian, V. Datta, C. Weidenmaier, R. Kansal, I. Fedtke, A. Peschel, R.L. Gallo, V. Nizet, p-Alanylation of teichoic acids promotes group a streptococcus antimicrobial peptide resistance, neutrophil survival, and epithelial cell invasion, J. Bacteriol. 187 (2005) 6719–6725.
- [97] C.Y. Okumura, V. Nizet, Subterfuge and sabotage: evasion of host innate defenses by invasive Gram-positive bacterial pathogens, Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 68 (2014) 439–458.
- [98] A. Peschel, M. Otto, R.W. Jack, H. Kalbacher, G. Jung, F. Gotz, Inactivation of the dlt operon in *Staphylococcus aureus* confers sensitivity to defensins, protegrins, and other antimicrobial peptides, J. Biol. Chem. 274 (1999) 8405–8410.
- [99] D.A. Devine, R.E. Hancock, Cationic peptides: distribution and mechanisms of resistance, Curr. Pharm. Des. 8 (2002) 703–714.
- [100] A. Peschel, L.V. Collins, Staphylococcal resistance to antimicrobial peptides of mammalian and bacterial origin, Peptides 22 (2001) 1651–1659.

- [101] A. Peschel, C. Vuong, M. Otto, F. Gotz, The D-alanine residues of *Staphylococcus aureus* teichoic acids alter the susceptibility to vancomycin and the activity of autolytic enzymes, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 44 (2000) 2845–2847.
- [102] K.G. Chan, M. Mayer, E.M. Davis, S.A. Halperin, T.J. Lin, S.F. Lee, Role of D-alanylation of *Streptococcus gordonii* lipoteichoic acid in innate and adaptive immunity, Infect. Immun. 75 (2007) 3033–3042.
- [103] R. Saar-Dover, A. Bitler, R. Nezer, L. Shmuel-Galia, A. Firon, E. Shimoni, P. Trieu-Cuot, Y. Shai, p-Alanylation of lipoteichoic acids confers resistance to cationic peptides in group B streptococcus by increasing the cell wall density, PLoS Pathog. 8 (2012) e1002891.
- [104] S.M. McBride, A.L. Sonenshein, The dlt operon confers resistance to cationic antimicrobial peptides in *Clostridium difficile*, Microbiology 157 (2011) 1457–1465.
- [105] E.T. Rietschel, T. Kirikae, F.U. Schade, U. Mamat, G. Schmidt, H. Loppnow, A.J. Ulmer, U. Zahringer, U. Seydel, F. Di Padova, et al., Bacterial endotoxin: molecular relationships of structure to activity and function, FASEB J. 8 (1994) 217–225.
- [106] C.R. Raetz, C. Whitfield, Lipopolysaccharide endotoxins, Annu. Rev. Biochem. 71 (2002) 635-700.
- [107] J.S. Gunn, K.B. Lim, J. Krueger, K. Kim, L. Guo, M. Hackett, S.I. Miller, PmrA-PmrBregulated genes necessary for 4-aminoarabinose lipid A modification and polymyxin resistance, Mol. Microbiol. 27 (1998) 1171–1182.
- [108] J.S. Gunn, S.S. Ryan, J.C. Van Velkinburgh, R.K. Ernst, S.I. Miller, Genetic and functional analysis of a PmrA-PmrB-regulated locus necessary for lipopolysaccharide modification, antimicrobial peptide resistance, and oral virulence of Salmonella enterica serovar typhimurium, Infect. Immun. 68 (2000) 6139–6146.
- [109] R.E. Bishop, H.S. Gibbons, T. Guina, M.S. Trent, S.I. Miller, C.R. Raetz, Transfer of palmitate from phospholipids to lipid A in outer membranes of Gram-negative bacteria, EMBO J. 19 (2000) 5071–5080.
- [110] M.M. Wosten, L.F. Kox, S. Chamnongpol, F.C. Soncini, E.A. Groisman, A signal transduction system that responds to extracellular iron, Cell 103 (2000) 113–125.
- [111] L. Johnson, S.R. Horsman, L. Charron-Mazenod, A.L. Turnbull, H. Mulcahy, M.G. Surette, S. Lewenza, Extracellular DNA-induced antimicrobial peptide resistance in Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium, BMC Microbiol. 13 (2013) 115.
- [112] J.J. Bijlsma, E.A. Groisman, Making informed decisions: regulatory interactions between two-component systems, Trends Microbiol. 11 (2003) 359–366.
- [113] J.S. Gunn, The Salmonella PmrAB regulon: lipopolysaccharide modifications, antimicrobial peptide resistance and more, Trends Microbiol. 16 (2008) 284–290.
- [114] S.R. Murray, R.K. Ernst, D. Bermudes, S.I. Miller, K.B. Low, pmrA(Con) confers pmrHFIJKL-dependent EGTA and polymyxin resistance on msbB Salmonella by decorating lipid A with phosphoethanolamine, J. Bacteriol. 189 (2007) 5161–5169.
- [115] W.W. Navarre, T.A. Halsey, D. Walthers, J. Frye, M. McClelland, J.L. Potter, L.J. Kenney, J.S. Gunn, F.C. Fang, S.J. Libby, Co-regulation of *Salmonella enterica* genes required for virulence and resistance to antimicrobial peptides by SlyA and PhoP/PhoQ, Mol. Microbiol. 56 (2005) 492–508.
- [116] L.R. Prost, S.I. Miller, The Salmonellae PhoQ sensor: mechanisms of detection of phagosome signals, Cell. Microbiol. 10 (2008) 576–582.
- [117] J.B. McPhee, M. Bains, G. Winsor, S. Lewenza, A. Kwasnicka, M.D. Brazas, F.S. Brinkman, R.E. Hancock, Contribution of the PhoP–PhoQ and PmrA-PmrB two-component regulatory systems to Mg²⁺-induced gene regulation in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, J. Bacteriol. 188 (2006) 3995–4006.
- [118] K. Kawasaki, K. China, M. Nishijima, Release of the lipopolysaccharide deacylase PagL from latency compensates for a lack of lipopolysaccharide aminoarabinose modification-dependent resistance to the antimicrobial peptide polymyxin B in *Salmonella enterica*, J. Bacteriol. 189 (2007) 4911–4919.
- [119] M. Reines, E. Llobet, C.M. Llompart, D. Moranta, C. Perez-Gutierrez, J.A. Bengoechea, Molecular basis of Yersinia enterocolitica temperature-dependent resistance to antimicrobial peptides, J. Bacteriol. 194 (2012) 3173–3188.
- [120] J.V. Hankins, I.A. Madsen, D.K. Giles, J.S. Brodbelt, M.S. Trent, Amino acid addition to Vibrio cholerae LPS establishes a link between surface remodeling in Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 109 (2012) 8722–8727.
- [121] Y.L. Tzeng, K.D. Ambrose, S. Zughaier, X. Zhou, Y.K. Miller, W.M. Shafer, D.S. Stephens, Cationic antimicrobial peptide resistance in *Neisseria meningitidis*, J. Bacteriol. 187 (2005) 5387–5396.
- [122] T. Nishino, An electron microscopic study of antagonism between cephalexin and erythromycin in *Staphylococcus aureus*, Jpn. J. Microbiol. 19 (1975) 53–63.
- [123] L. Cui, X. Ma, K. Sato, K. Okuma, F.C. Tenover, E.M. Mamizuka, C.G. Gemmell, M.N. Kim, M.C. Ploy, N. El-Solh, V. Ferraz, K. Hiramatsu, Cell wall thickening is a common feature of vancomycin resistance in *Staphylococcus aureus*, J. Clin. Microbiol. 41 (2003) 5–14.
- [124] L. Cui, H. Murakami, K. Kuwahara-Arai, H. Hanaki, K. Hiramatsu, Contribution of a thickened cell wall and its glutamine nonamidated component to the vancomycin resistance expressed by *Staphylococcus aureus* Mu50, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 44 (2000) 2276–2285.
- [125] M. Kawai, S. Yamada, A. Ishidoshiro, Y. Oyamada, H. Ito, J. Yamagishi, Cell-wall thickness: possible mechanism of acriflavine resistance in meticillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*, J. Med. Microbiol. 58 (2009) 331–336.
- [126] N.Y. Yount, M.R. Yeaman, Peptide antimicrobials: cell wall as a bacterial target, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1277 (2013) 127–138.
- [127] L. Cui, E. Tominaga, H.M. Neoh, K. Hiramatsu, Correlation between reduced daptomycin susceptibility and vancomycin resistance in vancomycin-intermediate *Staphylococcus aureus*, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 50 (2006) 1079–1082.
- [128] S.J. Yang, C.C. Nast, N.N. Mishra, M.R. Yeaman, P.D. Fey, A.S. Bayer, Cell wall thickening is not a universal accompaniment of the daptomycin nonsusceptibility phenotype in *Staphylococcus aureus*: evidence for multiple resistance mechanisms, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 54 (2010) 3079–3085.

- [129] N.E. Kramer, E.J. Smid, J. Kok, B. de Kruijff, O.P. Kuipers, E. Breukink, Resistance of Gram-positive bacteria to nisin is not determined by lipid II levels, FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 239 (2004) 157–161.
- [130] N.K. Taneja, T. Ganguly, L.O. Bakaletz, K.J. Nelson, P. Dubey, L.B. Poole, R. Deora, D-Alanine modification of a protease-susceptible outer membrane component by the Bordetella pertussis dra locus promotes resistance to antimicrobial peptides and polymorphonuclear leukocyte-mediated killing, J. Bacteriol. 195 (2013) 5102–5111.
- [131] L.J. Beamer, S.F. Carroll, D. Eisenberg, Crystal structure of human BPI and two bound phospholipids at 2.4 angstrom resolution, Science 276 (1997) 1861–1864.
- [132] M.R. Yeaman, N.Y. Yount, Mechanisms of antimicrobial peptide action and resistance, Pharmacol. Rev. 55 (2003) 27–55.
- [133] A. Schmidtchen, I.M. Frick, E. Andersson, H. Tapper, L. Bjorck, Proteinases of common pathogenic bacteria degrade and inactivate the antibacterial peptide LL-37, Mol. Microbiol. 46 (2002) 157–168.
- [134] M. Sieprawska-Lupa, P. Mydel, K. Krawczyk, K. Wojcik, M. Puklo, B. Lupa, P. Suder, J. Silberring, M. Reed, J. Pohl, W. Shafer, F. McAleese, T. Foster, J. Travis, J. Potempa, Degradation of human antimicrobial peptide LL-37 by *Staphylococcus aureus*-derived proteinases, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 48 (2004) 4673–4679.
- [135] M. Jusko, J. Potempa, A.Y. Karim, M. Ksiazek, K. Riesbeck, P. Garred, S. Eick, A.M. Blom, A metalloproteinase karilysin present in the majority of *Tannerella forsythia* isolates inhibits all pathways of the complement system, J. Immunol. 188 (2012) 2338–2349.
- [136] J. Koziel, A.Y. Karim, K. Przybyszewska, M. Ksiazek, M. Rapala-Kozik, K.A. Nguyen, J. Potempa, Proteolytic inactivation of IL-37 by karilysin, a novel virulence mechanism of *Tannerella forsythia*, J. Innate Immun. 2 (2010) 288–293.
- [137] R. Belas, J. Manos, R. Suvanasuthi, Proteus mirabilis ZapA metalloprotease degrades a broad spectrum of substrates, including antimicrobial peptides, Infect. Immun. 72 (2004) 5159–5167.
- [138] Z. Sun, J. Zhong, X. Liang, J. Liu, X. Chen, L. Huan, Novel mechanism for nisin resistance via proteolytic degradation of nisin by the nisin resistance protein NSR, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 53 (2009) 1964–1973.
- [139] X. Liang, Z. Sun, J. Zhong, Q. Zhang, L. Huan, Adverse effect of nisin resistance protein on nisin-induced expression system in *Lactococcus lactis*, Microbiol. Res. 165 (2010) 458–465.
- [140] M. Mattiuzzo, C. De Gobba, G. Runti, M. Mardirossian, A. Bandiera, R. Gennaro, M. Scocchi, Proteolytic activity of *Escherichia coli* oligopeptidase B against proline-rich antimicrobial peptides, J. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 24 (2014) 160–167.
- [141] P. Nyberg, M. Rasmussen, L. Bjorck, Alpha2-macroglobulin-proteinase complexes protect *Streptococcus pyogenes* from killing by the antimicrobial peptide LL-37, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (2004) 52820–52823.
- [142] L. Johansson, P. Thulin, P. Sendi, E. Hertzen, A. Linder, P. Akesson, D.E. Low, B. Agerberth, A. Norrby-Teglund, Cathelicidin LL-37 in severe *Streptococcus pyogenes* soft tissue infections in humans, Infect. Immun. 76 (2008) 3399–3404.
- [143] M. Rasmussen, H.-P. Müller, L. Björck, Protein GRAB of *Streptococcus pyogenes* regulates proteolysis at the bacterial surface by binding α 2-macroglobulin, J. Biol. Chem. 274 (1999) 15336–15344.
- [144] A. Schmidtchen, I.M. Frick, L. Bjorck, Dermatan sulphate is released by proteinases of common pathogenic bacteria and inactivates antibacterial alpha-defensin, Mol. Microbiol. 39 (2001) 708–713.
- [145] X. Lauth, M. von Kockritz-Blickwede, C.W. McNamara, S. Myskowski, A.S. Zinkernagel, B. Beall, P. Ghosh, R.L. Gallo, V. Nizet, M1 protein allows Group A streptococcal survival in phagocyte extracellular traps through cathelicidin inhibition, J. Innate Immun. 1 (2009) 202–214.
- [146] H.C. Maisey, D. Quach, M.E. Hensler, G.Y. Liu, R.L. Gallo, V. Nizet, K.S. Doran, A group B streptococcal pilus protein promotes phagocyte resistance and systemic virulence, FASEB J. 22 (2008) 1715–1724.
- [147] U. Romling, S. Kjelleberg, S. Normark, L. Nyman, B.E. Uhlin, B. Akerlund, Microbial biofilm formation: a need to act, J. Intern. Med. 276 (2014) 98–110.
- [148] D. Dufour, V. Leung, C.M. Lévesque, Bacterial biofilm: structure, function, and antimicrobial resistance, Endod. Top. 22 (2010) 2–16.
- [149] M. Di Luca, G. Maccari, R. Nifosi, Treatment of microbial biofilms in the postantibiotic era: prophylactic and therapeutic use of antimicrobial peptides and their design by bioinformatics tools, Pathog. Dis. 70 (2014) 257–270.
- [150] C. de la Fuente-Nunez, V. Korolik, M. Bains, U. Nguyen, E.B. Breidenstein, S. Horsman, S. Lewenza, L. Burrows, R.E. Hancock, Inhibition of bacterial biofilm formation and swarming motility by a small synthetic cationic peptide, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 56 (2012) 2696–2704.
- [151] Y. Kai-Larsen, P. Luthje, M. Chromek, V. Peters, X. Wang, A. Holm, L. Kadas, K.O. Hedlund, J. Johansson, M.R. Chapman, S.H. Jacobson, U. Romling, B. Agerberth, A. Brauner, Uropathogenic *Escherichia coli* modulates immune responses and its curli fimbriae interact with the antimicrobial peptide LL-37, PLoS Pathog. 6 (2010) e1001010.
- [152] H. Mulcahy, L. Charron-Mazenod, S. Lewenza, Extracellular DNA chelates cations and induces antibiotic resistance in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilms, PLoS Pathog. 4 (2008) e1000213.
- [153] E.E. Gill, O.L. Franco, R.E. Hancock, Antibiotic adjuvants: diverse strategies for controlling drug-resistant pathogens, Chem. Biol. Drug Des. 85 (2015) 56–78.
- [154] O.L. Franco, Elucidating novel bacterial targets and designing unusual antimicrobial peptides: two faces of the same proteomic coin, J. Proteome Bioinforma. S8 (2014) 001.
- [155] T.W. Bristow, A.D. Ray, A. O'Kearney-McMullan, L. Lim, B. McCullough, A. Zammataro, On-line monitoring of continuous flow chemical synthesis using a portable, small footprint mass spectrometer, J. Am. Soc. Mass Spectrom. 25 (2014) 1794–1802.